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THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  

FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY 

 

CAMDEN COUNTY HISTORICAL SOCIETY, 

 

               Plaintiff,  

 

                  v. 

 

STATE OF NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF 

TRANSPORTATION, RICHARD T. HAMMER 

in his official capacity as Commissioner of New 

Jersey Department of Transportation, DAVID C. 

MUDGE in his capacity as employee of New 

Jersey Department of Transportation, UNITED 

STATES DEPARTMENT OF 

TRANSPORTATION, ELAINE L. CHAO in her 

official capacity as Secretary of Transportation, 

FEDERAL HIGHWAY ADMINISTRATION, 

WALTER “BUTCH” WAIDELICH, Jr. in his 

official capacity as Acting Deputy Administrator 

of the Federal Highway Administration, JOHN 

AND JANE DOE 1-10, JOHN AND JANE DOE 

CORPORATIONS 1-10, and OTHER JOHN AND 

JANE DOE ENTITIES 1-10,      
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SUMMARY 

 

 1. This litigation is about the demolition of a national, regional, and local historic treasure 

that was perceived by the Defendants to be in the way of a federally funded highway reconstruction 

project in Bellmawr, New Jersey (the AConstruction Project@).     

2. The historic treasure was the Harrison House, portions of which were built in 1764, 

portions of which were likely constructed around 1740. The house was occupied by 

Revolutionary War Captain William Harrison. The Harrison House was also historically 

significant for its unique pattern brick architecture, its association with the early settlement and 

development of Camden County, and its association with the prominent Hugg Family.   

3. The conflict between construction and historic preservation is not a novel one; in 1966 

Congress enacted the National Historic Preservation Act (“Preservation Act”) to strike a balance 

between the two interests.  

4. But Defendants elected to ignore and conspire to violate the requirements of the 

Preservation Act to avoid the inconveniences of compliance, notably: good faith consultation with 

the public through required “interested parties” to avoid, minimize, and mitigate the Construction 

Project’s adverse effects on the community’s historical asset.    

5. Defendants controlled and manipulated the flow of information about the Harrison 

House so that it could reach, and then conceal, the conclusion they were predetermined to reach. 

6. That conclusion, that the 250 year old Harrison House was ineligible for inclusion on 

the National Register of Historic Places (“National Register”), was absurd on its face and in 

contravention of the Defendants’ independent architectural historian and historian consultants’ 

initial determination. 
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7.  That determination was that: “The Hugg-Harrison-Glover House is recommended 

eligible for listing in the National Register of Historic Places, based upon the criteria outlined in 

National Register Bulletin: ‘How to Apply the National Register Criteria for Evaluation’ (National 

Park Service 1997).” The cited portion of the December 2003 Base Survey is annexed hereto as 

Exhibit “A.”    

8.  The Defendants’ ultimate conclusion was subject to little, and only artificial, scrutiny 

because Defendants excluded and even eliminated from public view vital information that 

contradicted their conclusion.  

   9.  The historical value of the Harrison House was documented as far back as 1937 in the 

Historic American Buildings Survey. This photograph of the Harrison House was taken as part of 

the 1937 Survey, and reproduced here courtesy of the United States Library of Congress: 
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10. The significance of Defendant’s conclusion of ineligibility was that a finding of 

ineligibility relieves Defendants of their obligations under the Preservation Act to work 

cooperatively with “interested parties” as that term is defined by the Preservation Act. Such parties 

include Plaintiff Camden County Historical Society, Camden Preservation Trust, and Camden 

Historic Review Committee. 

11.  Having ignored the requirement to consult with interested parties during the survey, 

Defendants’ finding of ineligibility emboldened them to continue to act autocratically and to plan 

to demolish the Harrison House without the preservation obligations assigned to them by the 

Preservation Act.    

12.  Had Defendants permitted their architectural and historical consultants’ 2003 finding 

of eligibility to become part of the record, they would have been required to fully engage Plaintiff 

and others in the federally prescribed process to, “assess (the project’s) effects and seek ways to 

avoid, minimize or mitigate any adverse effects on historic properties.” 

13. Not only did Defendants fail to consult with Plaintiff and groups like them, but their 

decision to manipulate the conclusion of eligibility and obscure information regarding the House’s 

true historic value meant that for years Plaintiff and other potentially interested parties were not 

on notice that Defendants were planning to demolish the House.  

14. Once it was finally discovered the House was scheduled for destruction, groups 

including Camden County Board of Chosen Freeholders, the City of Gloucester, First District 

Congressman Donald Norcross, the Borough of Bellmawr, Preservation New Jersey, numerous 

other local and state elected officials, several historical and preservation organizations, over 3,000 
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members of the public and of course, the Plaintiff, advocated publicly on behalf of preserving the 

House.  

15. These groups did not advocate for Defendants to terminate the project, but merely 

beseeched Defendants to consult with them to seek ways to avoid, minimize, or mitigate the 

Construction Project’s adverse impact on its historic treasure. 

16. Plaintiff sought to avoid initiating litigation until they concluded indirectly through 

anecdotal evidence that demolition of the house was approaching.  

17. On the afternoon of March 2, 2017, Plaintiff filed and served a Complaint and Order to 

Show Cause in Superior Court for emergency restraints against the New Jersey Department of 

Transportation (NJDOT) to enjoin them from demolishing the Harrison House. 

18. As outlined in the Superior Court Complaint (annexed hereto as Exhibit “B”), the 

purpose of the restraints was to prevent demolition of the house and compel consultation between 

Defendants and Plaintiff calculated to result in relocation of the Harrison House. 

19.  The Borough of Bellmawr had already agreed to take possession of the Harrison 

House, had agreed to donate a specific plot of land for its relocation, had developed a plan for the 

plot,  and had sought and received a substantial historic preservation grant from Camden 

County’s Green Acres open space and historic preservation fund. Moreover, Plaintiffs had already 

consulted with a company specializing in relocation of historic homes, confirmed the viability of 

moving the House, and received a firm price quote to effect the move.          

20.  But, upon information and belief, upon notice of Plaintiff’s request for an injunction 

prohibiting demolition of the house on March 2, Defendants initiated a furtive and expedited 

demolition of the Harrison House.  
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21. That demolition began early the very next morning on March 3 at or around 6:00 am.  

22. The expedited demolition was done under a State Police escort and without the required 

state permit for demolition of the Harrison House.   

 

PARTIES 

 

Plaintiff 

 

23. Plaintiff Camden County Historical Society (the AHistorical Society@) is a non-profit 

organization incorporated in New Jersey in or about February 1899 with its principal place of 

business presently located at 1900 Park Boulevard, Camden, New Jersey. 

24. The Historical Society encourages the study and preservation of the history of Camden 

County, including preservation of historic properties in Camden County such as the Harrison 

House. 

25. One of the manifestations of the Historical Society’s mission is, from time to time, the 

creation and distribution of books, articles, pamphlets, and other written materials intended to 

educate the public about the importance of information about historic buildings and properties in 

Camden County.  

26. As just two examples, the Historical Society created and distributed: Rambles through 

Old Highways and Byways Camden, New Jersey published in 1967 ("CCHS Rambles") and 

Historical Tours of Camden County Auto Tour I 1974-1976, Camden, New Jersey published in 

1976 ("CCHS Auto Tour I"). 

27. Both Rambles through Old Highways… and Historical Tours of Camden County… 

include history about the House and its historically significant owner, Revolutionary War Captain 

William Harrison. 
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28. Plaintiff Historical Society maintains Pomona Hall, the ancestral home of the Cooper 

Family who were among the first emigrants to settle in the Province of West Jersey. Pomona Hall 

was built in 1726 and expanded in 1788, another example of patterned brick architecture, on the 

state and national registers of historic places, and now operated as a museum.  

29. Plaintiff Historical Society is A[an] organization Y with a demonstrated interest Y and 

concern with Y@ the preservation of historic properties in Camden County within the meaning of 

' 800.3(c)(5) of the Preservation Act, codified at 36 CFR Part 800, Subpart B. 

30. There can be no debate that the Plaintiff Historical Society has standing as a “part(y) 

with an interest in the effects of the undertaking” as that term is used by the Historic Preservation 

Act; Plaintiff Historical Society was contacted by the NJDOT for consultation at another point 

during the Construction Project when a different Bellmawr historical asset (the Bellmawr Park 

Mutual Housing District) was potentially to be adversely affected by this same Construction 

Project. See notification letter to the Historical Society annexed hereto as Exhibit “C.”             

 

Defendants 

New Jersey Defendants 

31. Defendant State of New Jersey Department of Transportation is a public and state 

agency within the State of New Jersey. 

32. NJDOT was delegated responsibility for compliance with Section 106, and is therefore 

an “agency official” as that term is defined by 36 CFR § 800.2. Pursuant to this responsibility, 

NJDOT is the agency which prepared and adopted the Environmental Impact Study for the 

Construction Project.   
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33.  Defendant Richard T. Hammer is the Commissioner of Defendant NJDOT, and is 

sued in his official capacity. Commissioner Hammer is ultimately responsible for all NJDOT 

decision-making.  

34.  Defendant David C. Mudge is an employee of Defendant NJDOT, and is sued in this 

capacity. Upon information and belief, and among other things, Mudge managed and 

manipulated the analysis and conclusions of the ostensibly independent historians.   

Federal Defendants 

35.  Upon information and belief, approximately 90% of funding for the Construction 

Project was federal.  

36.  Defendant United States Department of Transportation (“USDOT”) is the executive 

department of the federal government responsible for approval of federal highway projects. 

37.  Defendant Elaine L. Chao is the Secretary of Transportation, and is sued in her 

official capacity. Secretary Chao is ultimately responsible for all USDOT decision-making, 

including decisions of the Federal Highway Administration.    

38.  Defendant Federal Highway Administration (“FHWA”) is the agency within the 

USDOT principally responsible for highway planning and funding. FHWA is the federal agency 

charged with making sure NJDOT complies with federal regulations on federally funded projects, 

such as the Construction Project. 

39.  Walter “Butch” Waidelich, Jr. is Acting Deputy Administrator of FHWA, and is sued 

in his official capacity. Administrator Waidelich is ultimately responsible for all FHWA decisions.    
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John and Jane Doe Defendants 

 40. Defendants John and Jane Doe 1-10 are individual persons whose identities, 

names, and addresses are presently unknown.  

 41. Defendants John and Jane Doe Corporations 1-10 are corporate entities whose 

identities, names, and addresses are presently unknown.  

 42. Defendant John and Jane Doe 1-10 are other legal entities whose identities, 

names, and addresses are presently unknown.  

 

JURISDICTION & VENUE 

 43.  This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331, as this action arises under 

the laws of the United States.   

 44.  An actual and present controversy exists between the parties within the meaning of 

28 U.S.C. 28 U.S.C. § 2201 as Defendants have failed to act and have unlawfully withheld required 

action, including actions required under Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act 

subject to review pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 706(1). 

 45.  Venue lies in this judicial district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 (b), (c), and (e) 

because a substantial portion of the events and omissions caused by Defendants and giving rise 

to the claims at issue in this action occurred in this judicial district; the Construction Project is 

located within this judicial district; Plaintiffs reside and maintain their headquarters within this 

judicial district; Defendant NJDOT and Defendant Richard T. Hammer reside in this judicial 

district. 
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FEDERAL STATUTORY FRAMEWORK 

The National Historic Preservation Act 

 46.  Congress enacted the National Historic Preservation Act 54 U.S.C. §§ 300101 et 

seq. (“Preservation Act”) in 1966 to preserve the historic and cultural heritage of the United 

States.  

 47.  Congress declared: “the preservation of irreplaceable heritage is in the public 

interest so that its vital legacy of cultural, educational, esthetic, inspirational, economic, and 

energy benefits will be maintained for future generations of Americans.” National Historic 

Preservation Act §1, Pub. L. No. 89-665 as amended by Pub. L. No. 96-515.        

 48.  The Preservation Act §106 requires federal agencies to act as custodians of 

American heritage and “take into account” the impact of their actions on historic properties prior 

to commencement of that action: 

800.1  Purposes.  

 

(a) Purposes of the section 106 process.  Section 106 of the 

National Historic Preservation Act requires Federal agencies to 

take into account the effects of their undertakings on historic 

properties and afford the Council a reasonable opportunity to 

comment on such undertakings. The procedures in this part define 

how Federal agencies meet these statutory responsibilities.  The 

section 106 process seeks to accommodate historic preservation 

concerns with the needs of Federal undertakings through 

consultation among the agency official and other parties with an 

interest in the effects of the undertaking on historic properties 

commencing at the early stages of project planning.  The goal of 

consultation is to identify historic properties potentially 

affected by the undertaking, assess its effects and seek ways to 

avoid, minimize or mitigate any adverse effects on historic 

properties.  

 

Emphasis added.   
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 49.  Any and every federal agency is subject to the requirements of §106 of the 

Preservation Act. The Section 106 process ensures that a federal agency assumes responsibility 

for the consequences its own undertakings will have on historic properties. 

 

Requirements Under the Preservation Act 

 50.  The Preservation Act requires that: “[t]he agency official shall make a reasonable 

and good faith effort to carry out appropriate identification efforts, which may include 

background research, consultation, oral history interviews, sample field investigation, and field 

survey.” Emphasis added.   

 51.  While entities other than a federal agency may be asked to complete components of 

a §106 review, the federal agency remains legally responsible for all ultimate findings and 

determinations. 

 52.  The requirements of §106 do not mandate a particular outcome. But the decisions 

reached by the federal agency must be the result of a reasonable and good faith effort, 

knowledgeable, and it must be in consultation with interested parties – action may not be taken 

in ignorance or unilaterally. 

 53.  When the parties agree on a compromise balancing the interests of the agency’s 

project and the goals of historic preservation, the federal agency and the interested party will 

customarily enter into a Memorandum of Agreement, Programmatic Agreement, or something 

similar to memorialize the resolution and plan of action.  
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 54.  Alternatively, consultation can be terminated pursuant to §800.7 when further 

attempts at resolution appear futile. But termination is appropriate only, if at all: “[a]fter 

consulting to resolve adverse effects…” 

 55.  Pursuant to §800.7, a party wishing to terminate further consultation must comply 

with a number of specific written and consultative requirements.     

 56.  “Consultation” as defined by the Preservation Act means: “the process of seeking, 

discussing, and considering the views of other participants, and, where feasible, seeking 

agreement with them regarding matters arising in the Section 106 process.”        

 57.  The §106 process exists to ensure consultation with interested parties so that the 

federal agency and interested parties can together: a) identify historic properties, b) assess effects 

of the undertaking on the property, and c) attempt to balance an outcome that will satisfy both 

the project needs and importance of historic preservation.  

 

Historic Properties 

 58.  Historic properties protected under the Preservation Act are properties that are either 

listed or eligible for listing on the National Register.       

 59.  Pursuant to the guidelines of 36 C.F.R. §60.4, eligibility for the National Register is 

determined by application of the following standards:      

The quality of significance in American history, architecture, archaeology, engineering, 

and culture is present in districts, sites, buildings, structures, and objects that possess 

integrity of location, design, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling, and association and 

 

(a) That are associated with events that have made a significant contribution to 

the broad patterns of our history; or 

 

(b) That are associated with the lives of persons significant in our past; or 
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(c) That embody the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of 

construction, or that represent the work of a master, or that possess high 

artistic values, or that represent a significant and distinguishable entity whose 

components may lack individual distinction; or  

 

(d) That have yielded, or may be likely to yield, information important in 

prehistory or history. 

 

 

Avoiding, Minimizing, and/or Mitigating Adverse Effects 

60.  A historic property is “adversely effected” under the meaning of Section 106 when 

an undertaking by or involving a federal agency: “may alter, directly or indirectly, any of the 

characteristics of a historic property…in a manner that would diminish the integrity of the 

property’s location, design, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling, or association…” 

61.  When a historic property is to be adversely effected as those terms are defined by 

the Preservation Act, the responsible federal agency is required under 36 C.F.R. §800.6 to 

engage in consultation in order to, “develop and evaluate alternatives or modifications to the 

undertaking that could avoid, minimize or mitigate the adverse effects.”  

62.  Per 36 C.F.R. §800.1, “The goal of consultation is to identify historic properties 

potentially affected by the undertaking, assess its effects and seek ways to avoid, minimize or 

mitigate any adverse effects on historic properties.”  

63.  Consultation under the Preservation Act is to occur at the earliest possible time 

during project planning, “so that a broad range of alternatives may be considered during the 

planning process for the undertaking.”   
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64.  The Preservation Act prohibits actions that would, “restrict the subsequent 

consideration of alternatives to avoid, minimize, or mitigate” a project’s adverse effects on the 

historic property. 

 

The Administrative Procedure Act 

 65.  The Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”) at 5 U.S.C. § 702 provides a right to 

judicial review against an agency or official which has “acted or failed to act in an official 

capacity or under color of legal authority.” The APA provides at 5 U.S.C. § 706 that a court shall 

compel an agency action that is “unlawfully withheld or unreasonably delayed” and shall hold 

unlawful and set aside agency actions found to be “arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, 

or otherwise not in accordance with law.” 

 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

The Harrison House 

66.  The two story portion of the Harrison House was constructed in 1764; the attached 

single story structure was likely constructed even earlier. The home is not merely historically 

significant due to its age, but also because of its association with a captain in the local American 

militia during the American Revolution, and as an exemplar of pattern brick architecture unique 

to southwestern New Jersey.  

 67.  One of the home’s most significant associations is its association with Captain 

William Harrison. The Harrison House was owned and occupied during the Revolutionary War by 

Captain Harrison and his family. Captain Harrison was commander of the township militia, and 
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fought for the United States of America in the Battle of Gloucester under the command of the 

Marquis de Lafayette.  

68.  This battle was important in the career of the Marquis (an individual of enormous 

historical significance) as it led directly to the Marquis being promoted to command of a division 

of the Continental Army under General George Washington.  

69.  The NJDOT=s own consultant found that the Harrison House was associated with two 

important military actions: the Hessian attack on Fort Mercer, in October 1777, and the Battle of 

Gloucester in November 1777. 

70.  Appreciation for and awareness of the historical value of the Harrison House is not 

new; the Harrison House was recorded by the Historic American Building Survey in 1937 and has 

been listed in the Camden County Inventory of Historic Places since 1977. 

71.  Architecturally, the State of New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection, 

Natural Historic Resources, Historic Preservation Office (ASHPO@), declared the Harrison House 

to be, Aarchitecturally significant as a good example of a patterned brickwork house. Patterned 

brickwork provides the regionally distinctive architectural signature of southwestern New Jersey.@   

72.  In 2014, the SHPO declared the Harrison House eligible for listing in the New Jersey 

and National Registers of Historic Places under National Register Criteria C because of its pattern 

brick architecture. In 2016, the SHPO declared the Harrison House eligible for listing in the New 

Jersey and National Registers under National Register Criteria B for its local significance because 

of its association with William Harrison, Jr.  
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The Construction Project 

73.  The Harrison House was located at 515 West Browning Road, Bellmawr, New Jersey, 

in close proximity to the Construction Project. 

74.  In or about 2001, Defendants NJDOT and the Federal Highway Administration 

(AFHWA@) announced they were preparing to undertake the Construction Project, a major 

reconstruction of the intersections of federal highway 295 and State highway 42 located in 

Bellmawr, New Jersey. 

75.  The geographic area affected by the Construction Project encompassed the Harrison 

House. 

76.  The Construction Project is approximately 90% federally funded.  

 

The Independent Historians’ December 2003 Base Survey 

 77.  In or about December 2003, A.D. Marble & Company completed a draft Base 

Survey of the Harrison House prepared by architectural historian Elizabeth Amisson and 

historian Paul Schopp.  

 78.  The ostensible purpose of the Base Survey was to provide Defendants with an 

independently researched and reasoned conclusion regarding the eligibility or ineligibility of the 

Harrison House for inclusion on the National Register. 

 79.  The historians’ conclusion as contained in the December 2003 Base Survey was: 

“The Hugg-Harrison-Glover House is recommended eligible for listing in the National Register 

of Historic Places…[t]he property meets Criterion A for its association with events that have 
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made a significant contribution to the broad patterns of our history…” A true and accurate copy 

of the cited portion of the Base Survey is annexed hereto as Exhibit “D.”  

 80.  The December 2003 Base Survey cites in detail the Harrison House’s significance 

for its associations with: a) the early settlement and growth of Camden County, b) the Harrison 

family, and c) the Hugg family. A true and accurate copy of the cited portion of the Base Survey 

is annexed hereto as Exhibit “E.”  

 81.  The December 2003 Base Survey recognized that eligibility under Criterion A 

required the property retain: ‘the essential physical features that made up its character or 

appearance during the period of its association with the important event, historical pattern, or 

person(s).’ A true and accurate copy of the cited portion of the Base Survey is annexed hereto as 

Exhibit “F.” 

 82.  The December 2003 Base Survey determined the Harrison House fulfilled this 

requirement, concluding: “[t]he essential physical features that are necessary for the Hugg-

Harrison-Glover House to convey association with the early settlement of Camden County and 

the Hugg and Harrison families are its location, its major structural and cladding materials, and 

its form/massing. The resource retains these elements.”        

        

Defendants’ Bad Faith Section 106 “Review” 

83.  From approximately November 2001 through August 2006, the Harrison House was 

part of a cultural resource survey of potential right-of-ways for the Construction Project. 



 

 

18 

84.  Despite the conclusions contained in the December 2003 Base Survey, Defendants 

ultimately put forth the conclusion that the Harrison House was ineligible for inclusion in the 

National Register and, thereby, not subject to the requirements of Section 106. 

85.  Defendants did not like, and so manipulated, the findings of its own historical experts 

as codified in their December 2003 Base Survey.   

86.  This conclusion was based on an updated May 2005 Base Survey, prepared by A.D. 

Marble & Company’s same historians, Elizabeth Amisson and Paul Schopp.  

87.  Despite its unambiguous conclusions to the contrary in December 2003, the May 2005 

Base Survey now concluded the Harrison House to be ineligible for the National Register.  

88.  Despite its unambiguous conclusion in December 2003 that the Harrison House had 

sufficient architectural integrity and had retained three distinct categories of its essential physical 

features (the home’s: a) location, b) major structural and cladding materials, c) its form/massing) 

making it eligible for listing on the National Register, the May 2005 Base Survey suddenly 

concluded these features had been so obscured or removed that the Harrison House was incapable 

of interpreting its history and now ineligible.          

89.  The survey process and the independence of the historians was compromised by 

misinterpretations of the building=s architecture by the NJDOT cultural resources assessment 

project manager, divergences between the NJDOT project manager and the independent cultural 

resource consultants, and contrived analyses.  

90.  Defendants’ inaccuracies would have been identified and corrected had the process 

followed the regulations of the Preservation Act. Instead, Defendants hid and obscured their 
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intentions by neglecting their obligation to notify the required Aconsulting parties@ of their plans to 

demolish Harrison House.    

91.  As set forth above at full length, eligibility for National Register is achieved by 

qualifying under one out of four criteria; each of the four criterion are disjunctive.     

92.  In the 334-page report on the architectural resources within the project area, 

Defendants NJDOT, USDOT, and FHWA reached the Conclusion and Recommendation that the 

Harrison House was ineligible for the National Register rather curtly: “The Harrison-Glover House 

was recommended not eligible for listing in the National Register due to its lack of architectural 

integrity and subsequent inability to convey its historical and architectural significance.” The cited 

portion of the August 2006 Historical Architectural Resources Technical Environmental Study 

(“Report”) is annexed hereto as Exhibit “G.” 

93.  The Report introduces and cites in full detail the curriculum vitae of the historians 

responsible for the research and conclusions presented in the Report before, curiously, beginning 

the section about the Harrison House with the stray observations of an unidentified “representative 

of the NJDOT.” The cited portion of the Report is annexed hereto as Exhibit “H.”  

94.  Upon information and belief, the “representative of the NJDOT” was Defendant 

Mudge. 

95.  These observations begin with an opinion from the NJDOT representative: “The 

order of construction of this house is problematic…” The cited portion of the Report is annexed 

hereto as Exhibit “I.”   
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96.  The NJDOT representative buries without explication perhaps the most interesting 

fact as the final of 17 “Observed facts:” “The present owners also relate that the house was a stop 

on the Underground Railroad.”      

 97.  Upon information and belief, the NJDOT representative was not qualified to perform 

the architectural evaluation because he did not meet the Secretary of Interior=s AStandard for 

Architectural Historian.@ 

98.  In the Report’s conclusion of ineligibility, Defendants cited that the Harrison House 

was not a scarce resource because there were 37 other eighteenth-century masonry dwellings in 

Camden County, some with more architectural integrity than the Harrison House.     

99.  But upon information and belief, these 37 dwellings were never identified.   

100.  Moreover, a comparison of one historical asset to another for purposes of labeling 

one superior and another inferior was a creation of the Defendants for purposes of evasion of the 

Preservation Act – such a comparison is not found anywhere within the criteria for National 

Register eligibility.      

 101.  The Defendants’ assessment of the building cannot be considered to have been 

“adequate” or in “good faith” in fulfillment of its obligations under the Preservation Act.  

102.  The abrupt and manufactured conclusion of the Report prevented the reviewing 

agencies (State Historic Preservation Office, FHWA and the Advisory Council on Historic 

Preservation) from meaningfully evaluating the conclusion that the Harrison House was ineligible 

for the National Register.   
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103.  Despite a lack of qualifications, Defendants rewrote portions of NJDOT’s consultant 

architectural evaluation because they were displeased with the consultant architectural historian=s 

conclusion that the Harrison House was eligible. 

104.  Internal notes (annexed to the Complaint as Exhibit “J”) provided by the NJDOT 

provide insight into their heavy-handed influence over the “independent” historians:  

The Department values your firm’s professional judgment, and desires an 

independent research into the history of the Glover house. However, ignoring 

evidence presented that contradicts your original findings is not the type of research 

that we value (and pay for)…[t]his evidence was supplied to you free of charge, 

and we did not ask that you perform any additional research, we did it for you. For 

your firm to ignore this information is not the type of quality that we expect. 

Parenthetical in original  
 

This entire document is full of references to an earlier construction date than is 

supported by any evidence…[e]ither specify this evidence, or strike the sentence. 

  

If there is a great deal of confusion regarding the construction dates of the structure, 

and those that were responsible, then I would suggest that the structure’s ability to 

explain itself (i.e. integrity) has been severely compromised.       

Emphasis added  

105. Upon information and belief, these internal notes were the words of Defendant 

Mudge.   

106.  The historians’ evaluation appears to have been rewritten for purposes of 

strengthening the argument that the Harrison House did not retain adequate architectural integrity 

to be eligible for the National Register. 

107.  Moreover, the one and only photograph of the Harrison House was separated from 

the discussion of the Property to segregate its visually manifest historic appeal and value.  

108.  Thus in 2007, based on this artificial process, the FHWA found the Harrison House 

ineligible for inclusion on the National Register.   
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109.  The NJDOT and FHWA’s tainted findings and associated materials were 

consequently compiled in a Draft Environmental Impact Statement which was approved by the 

relevant offices of the NJDEP, including the SHPO, on February 20, 2008. 

110.  Defendants then failed to make more than a cursory mention of the Property in its 

Final Environmental Impact Statement, published in December of 2008 (the AFEIS@).  A 

photograph of the Property appears in the section on archaeology, but in the architectural section 

the Harrison House is described tersely as simply being older than 50 years and having been 

included in the 1992 Camden County Survey of historic resources.  

111.  The single photograph chosen for inclusion in the FEIS by the Defendants was 

calculated to not stimulate any interest in the House’s history, depicting the east elevation of the 

Property rather than the west in which the date of the Harrison House=s construction, A1764," is 

inlaid prominently in brick. A photograph of the 1764 inlay is annexed hereto as Exhibit “K.” Both 

the date and the inlay itself are of course of historical significance.  

 112.  Nor did the FEIS make adequate disclosure of the unique patterned brickwork of the 

south elevation of the Harrison House, brickwork that provides the regionally distinctive 

architectural signature of southwestern New Jersey.   

 

Defendants Consider Themselves Rid of Preservation Act Obligations 

113.  As a result of their manufactured and inaccurate finding of non-eligibility for the 

National Register, Defendants concluded they had no obligations to follow the Section 106 process 

and involve Aconsulting parties@ in its plans to demolish the Harrison House.  
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114.  Upon information and belief, Defendants did not notify Plaintiff Historical Society 

or any other interested local agency or the public of its plans to demolish the Harrison House.  

115.  Not coincidentally, because the Defendants’ manipulated survey and evaluation led 

to a conclusion of non-eligibility and thereby circumvention of Section 106 the Plaintiff, public, 

local government and other interested parties were left unaware of plans to demolish the Harrison 

House until many years later. 

 

 

The Harrison House is Re-evaluated as Defendants’ Plans to Demolish the House  

Are Revealed in the Newspaper 

 

116.  The public, including Plaintiff Historical Society, learned for the first time that the 

Harrison House was scheduled for demolition through a newspaper article published on or about 

July 28, 2014 on Philly.com.  

117.  Public objection to demolition began immediately and grew quickly. Plaintiffs, 

Camden County Board of Chosen Freeholders, the City of Gloucester, First District Congressman 

Donald Norcross, the Borough of Bellmawr, numerous other local and state elected officials, 

Preservation New Jersey and several other historical and preservation organizations, and over 

3,000 members of the public, advocated for the preservation of the House in various ways. 

118.  As a result of this public outcry, the SHPO arranged for an architectural historian to 

meet with the NJDOT project manager for a site inspection less than two months later on 

September 23, 2014.   

119.  Shortly thereafter, the Deputy State Historic Preservation Officer notified defendant 

NJDOT that the Harrison House was indeed eligible for the National Register of Historic Places 

by letter dated November 26, 2014.   
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120.  The SHPO based the eligibility finding on criterion C, architecture: Abuilt in 1764, 

(Harrison House) is architecturally significant as a good example of a patterned brickwork house.  

Patterned brickwork provides the regionally distinctive architectural signature of southwestern 

New Jersey. Good examples of 18th-century patterned brickwork are locally significant wherever 

they occur.” 

121.  The SHPO concurrently concluded that Defendants’ proposed demolition of the 

Harrison House would have an adverse effect on a historic property as that phrase is defined under 

the Preservation Act.  

122.  Defendants, still intent to avoid the inconveniences of consultation required by the 

Preservation Act, unilaterally proclaimed the SHPO’s reconsideration and conclusion of eligibility 

for the National Register to be a “late discovery.”  

123.  But there is no provision under which Defendants are entitled to a late discovery 

exemption where the claimed late discovery was the result of something less than the Agood faith 

effort to carry out adequate identification efforts@ they were required to make. 

124.  Defendants failed to make a good faith effort to carry out adequate identification 

efforts. To the contrary, Defendants conducted identification efforts arbitrarily and capriciously 

and in bad faith to reach their pre-determined conclusion of non-eligibility.    

125.  Upon information and belief, SHPO provided its conclusion of eligibility and 

adverse effect to NJDOT and FHWA on November 26, 2014.  

126.  Subsequent to SHPO’s new finding of eligibility, Defendants entered into 

negotiations with the SHPO about monetary mitigation for the planned destruction of the Harrison 

House.  
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127.   But Defendants continued to refuse to consult with “interested parties” such as the 

Plaintiff Historical Society as required under the Preservation Act.  

128.  Even now, with an undisputed determination of eligibility, these negotiations were 

not undertaken in good faith. Defendants concluded unilaterally, arbitrarily, and capriciously that 

the Harrison House could not be relocated. This conclusion was flatly contrary to the evaluations 

of multiple historic home relocation experts, including NJDOT’s own consultant engineer, and 

was reached without the input or consultation of Plaintiffs and other required interested parties.  

 

Pleas for Consultation 

129.  With Defendants refusing to involve and consult with the interested parties as 

required by the Preservation Act, interested parties were left to beg Defendants for involvement in 

the process. 

130.    Defendants continued to refuse to engage interested parties in any meaningful way.   

131.  As one example, Defendant NJDOT chose to ignore a written request from the 

District’s United States Congressman, Donald Norcross.  

132.  Congressman Norcross’s letter (annexed hereto as Exhibit “L”) requested that 

Defendant NJDOT simply amend Defendants’ application to the FHWA.   

133.  This simple amendment to the application would have created funding opportunities 

to avoid, minimize or mitigate the adverse effect on this historic property.  

134.  As another example, Plaintiff Historical Society offered to pay for a tree-ring dating 

study of the kitchen wing of the Harrison House to resolve a controversy regarding its age. After 
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Plaintiff Historical Society provided NJDOT with full information on the process, NJDOT simply 

never responded to Plaintiff. 

135.  In fact, from the spring of 2016 through the present and despite repeated requests, 

Defendants refused to allow Plaintiff Historical Society access to the building of any kind. This 

was despite promises made to Plaintiff Historical Society by Defendants that access would be 

permitted following certain environmental remediation efforts, misleading Plaintiff to believe 

litigation was not required to protect the Harrison House.  

136.  Access to the building would have aided in the avoidance, minimization, and/or or 

mitigation of the adverse effect on this historic property. 

137.  Among other things, Defendants’ decision to prevent Plaintiff Historical Society 

from accessing the Harrison House resulted in the loss of an enormous amount of irreplaceable 

historical information.  

138.  Among other things, Defendants’ decision to prevent Plaintiff Historical Society 

from accessing the Harrison House limited Plaintiff’s ability to save and relocate the Harrison 

House. 

139.  Among other things, Defendants’ decision to prevent Plaintiff Historical Society 

from accessing the Harrison House resulted in the loss of an enormous amount of irreplaceable 

historical artifacts.  

140.  Over time, the reasons given by Defendants for refusing Plaintiff Historical Society 

access have included: not wanting to disturb the tenants, the need to remediate asbestos and lead 

contamination, and that access must be denied since defendant was engaged in disconnecting 

utilities at the Property. 



 

 

27 

141.  Upon information and belief these reasons were pretext, as only minimal asbestos 

and/or lead remediation was ever performed by Defendants.   

142.  Defendants failed to involve the public and interested parties such as the Plaintiff 

Historical Society in the Section 106 processes every step of the way. Defendants attempted to 

circumvent their obligations under the Preservation Act first by mislabeling the Harrison House 

ineligible for the National Register and then, once it was properly declared eligible, by deciding 

unilaterally that the correction had come too late.    

 

SUPERIOR COURT PROCEDURAL HISTORY & FRAMEWORK  

OF STATE LAW CLAIMS 

 

Superior Court Procedural History 

 143.  On the afternoon of March 2, 2017, the Camden County Historical Society filed and 

served upon NJDOT a Verified Complaint for Temporary Restraints, Preliminary Injunction and 

Permanent Injunction against Defendant NJDOT in the Superior Court of New Jersey, Chancery 

Division of Camden County. A true and accurate copy of the Complaint is annexed hereto as 

Exhibit “B.” A motion by Order to Show Cause was filed and served concurrent with the 

Complaint.   

 144.  In summary, and among other things, the Complaint and motion sought to enjoin 

NJDOT from demolishing the Harrison House and provided detail of the NJDOT’s malfeasance 

with regard to the Historic Preservation Act as detailed above herein. 

 145.  Upon information and belief, Defendant NJDOT was aware of the service and/or 

filing of the Complaint and the attendant Order to Show Cause.      
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 146.  In the alternative, Defendant NJDOT knew or should have known that such a 

Complaint and/or Order to Show Cause was likely. In fact, upon information and belief, 

Congressman Norcross notified Defendant NJDOT that Plaintiff Historical Society had retained 

counsel and were prepared to initiate legal action.    

 147.  Upon learning of the service and filing of the Complaint, Defendants conspired to 

perform an expedited demolition of the Harrison House to begin early the following morning, 

March 3, 2017. 

 148.  Demolition did, in fact, take place beginning at or about 6:00 am the morning of 

March 3. Demolition of the Harrison House was conducted without the proper permit, and under 

State Police escort.   

 149.  Defendants did not Answer the Complaint or oppose the motion in Superior Court.  

 150.  Later that same day, March 3, 2017, Plaintiff Historical Society filed and served an 

Amended Complaint and motion by Order to Show Cause in the Superior Court of New Jersey, 

Chancery Division of Camden County.  

 151.  With the house now demolished, the Amended Complaint and motion sought an 

injunction preventing Defendant NJDOT from disturbing the rubble which had substantial 

evidential and historical value.  

 152.  Upon information and belief, Defendant NJDOT was aware of the service and/or 

filing of the Amended Complaint and the attendant Order to Show Cause.  

 153.  In the alternative, Defendant NJDOT knew or should have known that such an 

Amended Complaint and/or Order to Show Cause was likely.  
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 154.  Again, Defendant NJDOT did not Answer the Complaint or oppose the motion but, 

rather, again conspired to disturb and discard the rubble at will.  

 155.  Defendant NJDOT claims to have preserved certain items from the Harrison House 

which it decided, again unilaterally, was important. 

 156.  Defendant NJDOT had promised to turn these items over to Plaintiff Historical 

Society. In fact, a date and time was arranged for custody of these items to be transitioned from 

Defendant NJDOT and Plaintiff Historical Society.  

 157.  Within just hours of the arranged pick-up time, Defendant NJDOT declared it had 

changed its mind and conveyed to Plaintiff Historical Society that it would no longer provide 

these items because they believed litigation was imminent and considered these items to be 

“evidence.” 

 158.  The Amended Complaint has been withdrawn by Plaintiff Historical Society 

concurrent with the filing of the instant Complaint.         

 

Framework of State Law Claims 

Fraudulent Concealment of Evidence 

 159.  New Jersey law authorizes recovery for the intentional destruction of evidence 

under the tort of Fraudulent Concealment of Evidence. 

 160.  The elements for a cause of action under Fraudulent Concealment of Evidence are 

met when: a) defendant had a legal obligation to disclose evidence in connection with a potential 

or existing litigation, b) that evidence was or would have been material to the litigation, c) 

plaintiff could not have reasonably obtained access to the evidence from another source, d) 
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defendant intentionally withheld, altered, or destroyed the evidence with the purpose of 

disrupting the litigation, and e) plaintiff was damaged in the underlying action without the 

evidence that was withheld, altered, or destroyed by defendant. 

 161.  Punitive damages are available to a plaintiff when defendant(s) acted with actual 

malice or wanton and willful disregard for the damage inflicted.  

 

 

Conspiracy to Commit Tort 

 162.  In New Jersey, a defendant is liable for a conspiracy to commit a tort when: a) a 

combination of two or more persons, b) act in concert to commit an unlawful act, or to commit a 

lawful act by unlawful means, c) enter into an agreement to inflict injury upon another.  

 163.  Every member of a civil conspiracy is equally and vicariously liable to the Plaintiff 

for the damages caused.     

 

Negligent Spoliation of Evidence 

 164.  A plaintiff is entitled to damages for a party’s negligent destruction of evidence 

under New Jersey law when the defendant: a) had a duty to not cause its destruction, b) breached 

that duty, c) and caused an injury by its breach.  
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CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

Federal Claims 

 

CLAIM ONE 

Violation of the National Historic Preservation Act as Against All Defendants 

 

 165. Plaintiff incorporates by reference each and every allegation of the preceding 

paragraphs of this Complaint as though set forth again at full length herein.  

 166. It is the statutory obligation of the federal agency to fulfill the requirements of 

section 106.  

 167. Preservation Act section 800.2 permits a federal agency to delegate legal 

responsibility for compliance with section 106 to a state government official. Such a delegation 

converts the state government official to an “agency official” as that term is defined by section 

800.2(a). 

 168. Preservation Act section 106, 16 U.S.C. §470f requires that federal agencies take 

into account the effect of any undertaking licensed or approved by the federal government on 

any site or object included in, or eligible for inclusion in, the National Register of Historic 

Places.  

 169. The Harrison House was at all times eligible for inclusion on the National Register.  

 170. The demolition of Harrison House is an “adverse effect” as that term is defined by 

the Preservation Act.  

 171. The Construction Project is a project and/or activity under the jurisdiction of the 

Federal Highway Administration and/or United States Department of Transportation and, 

thereby, required compliance with section 106.  
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 172. The Federal Highway Administration and/or United States Department of 

Transportation delegated its compliance obligations to the New Jersey Department of 

Transportation. 

 173. The Federal Highway Administration and/or United States Department of 

Transportation and/or New Jersey Department of Transportation violated their obligations under 

section 106 by failing to exercise good faith in the identification, protection, and avoidance of a 

historic property. 

 174. The Federal Highway Administration and/or United States Department of 

Transportation and/or New Jersey Department of Transportation violated their obligations under 

section 106 by failing to exercise good faith in concluding that the Harrison House was ineligible 

for inclusion on the National Register.   

 175. The Federal Highway Administration and/or United States Department of 

Transportation and/or New Jersey Department of Transportation violated their obligations under 

section 106 by failing to take into account the effects of their undertakings on a historic property 

and failing to afford the Council a reasonable opportunity to comment on this undertaking as 

required by section 800.1.  

 176. Sections 800.3(e) and (f) require that the federal agency and/or Agency Official 

initiate consultation with the public and other consulting parties early in the decision-making 

process. Such consultation was required prior to, and much earlier than, demolition of the 

Harrison House.       

 177. The Federal Highway Administration and/or United States Department of 

Transportation and/or New Jersey Department of Transportation violated their obligations under 
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section 106 by failing to consult with the public and other interested parties including Plaintiff 

Historical Society.   

 178. The Federal Highway Administration and/or United States Department of 

Transportation and/or New Jersey Department of Transportation violated section 106 of the 

Preservation Act by demolishing the Harrison House without compliance with section 106 of the 

Preservation Act.  

 179. The Federal Highway Administration and/or United States Department of 

Transportation and/or New Jersey Department of Transportation violated section 106 of the 

Preservation Act by failing to make reasonable efforts, to the extent efforts were made at all, to 

avoid, minimize, or mitigate the adverse effects of the Construction Project on the Harrison 

House.  

 180. Plaintiff Historical Society has and will continue to suffer grievous harm as a direct 

result of the Federal Highway Administration and/or United States Department of Transportation 

and/or New Jersey Department of Transportation’s violation of the Preservation Act.  

 

CLAIM TWO 

Violation of the Administrative Procedure Act as Against the Federal Defendants 

  

 181. Plaintiff incorporates by reference each and every allegation of the preceding 

paragraphs of this Complaint as though set forth again at full length herein. 

 182. The Federal Highway Administration and/or United States Department of 

Transportation acted in a manner that is “arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or 

otherwise not in accordance with law” in violation of the Administrative Procedure Act 5 U.S.C. 
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§ 706 (2)(a) in delegating its obligations under section 106 to the New Jersey Department of 

Transportation when they knew or should have known that the New Jersey Department of 

Transportation would not carry out its obligations in good faith.  

 183. The Federal Highway Administration and/or United States Department of 

Transportation acted in a manner that is “arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or 

otherwise not in accordance with law” in violation of the Administrative Procedure Act 5 U.S.C. 

§ 706 (2)(a) in failing to adequately supervise the New Jersey Department of Transportation as 

the New Jersey Department of Transportation failed to carry out its obligations under section 106 

in good faith.  

 184. The Federal Highway Administration and/or United States Department of 

Transportation acted in a manner that is “arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or 

otherwise not in accordance with law” in violation of the Administrative Procedure Act 5 U.S.C. 

§ 706 (2)(a) by permitting New Jersey Department of Transportation to continue carrying out the 

functions of an agency official under section 106 as the New Jersey Department of 

Transportation continued to fail to carry out its obligations under section 106 in good faith. 

 185. The Federal Highway Administration and/or United States Department of 

Transportation acted in a manner that is “arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or 

otherwise not in accordance with law” in violation of the Administrative Procedure Act 5 U.S.C. 

§ 706 (2)(a) in demolishing a historical property without compliance with the Preservation Act.  

 186. The Federal Highway Administration and/or United States Department of 

Transportation violated 49 U.S.C. §303 and 23 U.S.C. §138 by failing to minimize the 

Construction Project’s adverse impact on a historic site, and acted in a manner that is “arbitrary, 
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capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law” in violation of the 

Administrative Procedure Act 5 U.S.C. §706 (2)(a). 

 

STATE LAW CLAIMS 

CLAIM THREE 

Fraudulent Concealment of Evidence as Against NJDOT,  

Richard T. Hammer, and David C. Mudge 

  

 187. Plaintiff incorporates by reference each and every allegation of the preceding 

paragraphs of this Complaint as though set forth again at full length herein. 

 188. Defendant New Jersey Department of Transportation was a named as a party to an 

action in the Superior Court, Chancery Division of Camden County that was filed and served on 

March 2, 2017.  

 189. That action, among other things, concerned the Harrison House.  

 190. The house was critical evidence, if not the most critical evidence, in that action. 

Defendant NJDOT was obligated to permit Plaintiff Historical Society access to the Harrison 

House under New Jersey’s Rules of Evidence pursuant to R. 4:18-1 and R. 4:10-1. 

 191. Plaintiff had and now has no other access to the evidence that is and that is within 

the demolished Harrison House from any other source. 

 192. Defendants destroyed the Harrison House intentionally, and for the purpose of 

disrupting the Superior Court litigation.  

 193. Plaintiff Historical Society was damaged by this act.       
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CLAIM FOUR  

Conspiracy to Commit Tort as Against All Defendants 

 

 194. Plaintiff incorporates by reference each and every allegation of the preceding 

paragraphs of this Complaint as though set forth again at full length herein. 

 195. Upon being served with the Superior Court Complaint or otherwise becoming aware 

of the Superior Court action, Defendants agreed and acted in concert to expedite demolition of 

the Harrison House and commit the tort of fraudulent concealment of evidence.   

 196. Plaintiff Historical Society was damaged by this act.        

 

CLAIM FIVE 

Negligent Spoliation of Evidence as Against NJDOT,  

Richard T. Hammer, and David C. Mudge 

 

 197. Plaintiff incorporates by reference each and every allegation of the preceding 

paragraphs of this Complaint as though set forth again at full length herein.  

  198. NJDOT had a duty to permit Plaintiff Historical Society discovery and inspection of 

the Harrison House because it was evidence in the Superior Court action.  

 199. NJDOT breached that duty by demolishing the Harrison House, thereby preventing 

discovery and inspection.  

 200. NJDOT caused an injury by its breach.  
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RELIEF SOUGHT 

WHEREFORE, PLAINTIFF CAMDEN COUNTY HISTORICAL SOCIETY 

DEMANDS THE FOLLOWING RELIEF:   

 

1. A declaration that Defendants Federal Highway Administration, United States 

Department of Transportation, and New Jersey Department of Transportation violated the 

National Historic Preservation Act.  

2. An Order directing Defendants Federal Highway Administration, United States 

Department of Transportation, and New Jersey Department of Transportation to consult 

in good faith with Plaintiffs as that term is used in the National Historic Preservation Act 

to minimize and/or mitigate the effects of the demolition of Harrison House. Examples of 

such a post-demolition minimization and/or mitigation include the provision of resources 

to create a replica of the Harrison House, Revolutionary War museum, monument 

commemorating the Harrison House, ghost structure at the site of the Harrison House, 

commemorative signage, possession of all remaining artifacts, and an intensive-level 

archeological excavation. An example of a ghost structure is annexed hereto as Exhibit 

“L.” 

3. For this Court to retain jurisdiction of this action to ensure compliance with the Court’s 

decree. 

4. An award of Plaintiff attorneys’ fees, costs, and expenses pursuant to 54 U.S.C.A. 

§307105 as against Defendants Federal Highway Administration, United States 

Department of Transportation, and New Jersey Department of Transportation. 
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5. An award of monetary damages as against defendants New Jersey Department of 

Transportation and Richard T. Hammer for the tort of Fraudulent Concealment of 

Evidence in an amount to be determined at trial. 

6. An award of punitive damages as against Richard T. Hammer for committing the tort of 

Fraudulent Concealment of Evidence with actual malice and/or wanton and willful 

disregard for the damage inflicted in an amount to be determined at trial.  

7. An award of monetary damages as against Defendant New Jersey Department of 

Transportation for the tort of Negligent Spoliation of Evidence in an amount to be 

determined at trial. 

8. An award of monetary damages as against Defendant New Jersey Department of 

Transportation and Richard T. Hammer for the tort of conspiracy to commit a tortious 

act. 

9. An award of such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.  
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CERTIFICATION 

 Under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 11, by signing below, I certify to the best of my 

knowledge, information and belief that this Complaint: (1) is not being presented for an improper 

purpose, such as to harass, cause unnecessary delay, or needlessly increase the cost of litigation; 

(2) is supported by existing law or by a non-frivolous argument for extending, modifying, or 

reversing existing law; (3) the factual contentions have evidentiary support or, if specifically so 

identified, will likely have evidentiary support after a reasonable opportunity for further 

investigation or discovery; and (4) the Complaint otherwise complies with the requirements of 

Rule 11.  

 

Date: July 19, 2017  

      ____________________________   

      Ellen M. McDowell, Esq. 

      Matthew R. Litt, Esq. 

      McDowell Posternock Apell & Detrick, PC 

      400 N. Church Street, Suite 250 

      Moorestown, New Jersey 08057 

      Ph: (856) 642-6445 

      MLitt@MPADLaw.com  
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